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PROPOSED AUDIT 
GUIDANCE 
STATEMENT 

ED AGS 1 

 
Sample Independent Auditor’s Reports 

 

Foreword 
 
The sample independent auditor’s reports in this Audit Guidance Statement are for illustrative 
purposes only. The text in the reports essentially adheres to the principles of the relevant auditing 
standards. Auditors should consider the applicability of the sample independent auditor’s reports for 
their engagement purposes. 
 
 

APPENDIX 1 
Sample Independent Auditor’s Reports on SSA 700 (Revised) Forming an 

Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements 

 
The following are forms of an auditor’s report incorporating the principles set forth in SSA 700 
(Revised). 
 
(1A) Private company 
 

 

Illustration 1A – Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of a Singapore Incorporated Private 
Company Prepared in Accordance with a Fair Presentation Framework  

 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

 

 Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a Singapore incorporated private company 
using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., Singapore Standard 
on Auditing (SSA) 600

1
 does not apply). 

 The financial statements are prepared by management of the company in accordance with 
Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (a general purpose framework). 

 The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management’s responsibility for the 
financial statements in SSA 210

2
. 

 The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the audit 
evidence obtained. 

 The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants 
and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements relating to the audit 
in Singapore, and the auditor refers to both. 

 Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty does 
not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern in accordance with SSA 570 (Revised) 3.  

 The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit matters in 
accordance with SSA 701

4
. 

                                                        
1
 SSA 600, Special Considerations – Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors) 

2
 SSA 210, Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements 

3
 SSA 570 (Revised), Going Concern 

4
 SSA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor’s Report 
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 The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's report and has 
not identified a material misstatement of the other information.

5
 The other information comprises 

only the Directors’ Statement. 

 Those responsible for oversight of the financial statements differ from those responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements. 

 In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting responsibilities 
required under local law. 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
To the Shareholders of ___________ (entity) [or Other Appropriate Addressee]  
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements6
 

 
Opinion  
 
We have audited the financial statements of ______ (the Company), which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore 
(FRSs) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 20X1 
and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company for the year ended on 
that date.  
 
Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Accounting 
and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public 
Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
Other Information [or another title if appropriate such as “Information Other than the Financial 
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon”] 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ 
Statement [set out on pages xx to xx]. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard. 
  

                                                        
5 
SSA 720 (Revised), The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information, Appendix 2 provides illustrative examples of  

  the “Other Information” section in different scenarios.  
6
 The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title   

  “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable.  
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Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of 
internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly 
authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair 
financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

 
 

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

7
  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  
 

                                                        
7
 This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to issue an   

  opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.  



  6 
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  
 
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been 
properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 
 
[The form and content of this section of the auditor’s report would vary depending on the nature of the 
auditor’s other reporting responsibilities prescribed by local law or regulation. The matters addressed by 
other law or regulation (referred to as “other reporting responsibilities”) shall be addressed within this 
section unless the other reporting responsibilities address the same topics as those presented under the 
reporting responsibilities required by the SSAs as part of the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section. The reporting of other reporting responsibilities that address the same topics as those 
required by the SSAs may be combined (i.e., included in the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section under the appropriate subheadings) provided that the wording in the auditor’s report 
clearly differentiates the other reporting responsibilities from the reporting that is required by the SSAs 
where such a difference exists.] 
 
 
 
 __________________________ (Firm) 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore  

 _________________________ (Date) 
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(1B) Non-incorporated entity 
 

 

Illustration 1B – Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of a Non-incorporated, Non-listed 
Entity Prepared in Accordance with a Fair Presentation Framework  

 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

 

 Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a non-incorporated, non-listed entity using a 
fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., Singapore Standard on 
Auditing (SSA) 600 does not apply). 

 The financial statements are prepared by management of the entity in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standards in Singapore (a general purpose framework). 

 The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management’s responsibility for the 
financial statements in SSA 210. 

 The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the audit 
evidence obtained. 

 The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants 
and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements relating to the audit 
in Singapore, and the auditor refers to both.  

 Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 
does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with SSA 570 (Revised).  

 The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit matters 
in accordance with SSA 701. 

 The auditor has not obtained any other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report. 

 Those responsible for oversight of the financial statements differ from those responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements. 

 In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting 
responsibilities required under local law. 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
To ___________ (1) of ___________ (entity) 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements1 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of ______ (the _____ (2)), which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of _______ (3) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) so as to present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the ______ (2) as at 31 December 20X1 and the 
financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the ______ (2) for the year ended on that 
date. 

 
 
  

                                                        
1
   The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title 

“Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable. 
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Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the ______ (2) in accordance with the 
Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for 
Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements

2
  

 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the provisions of ___________ (3) and FRSs and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the ______ (2)’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
______ (2) or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the ______ (2)’s financial reporting 
process.

 
 

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements 

 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the ______ (2)’s internal control.

3
  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ______ (2)’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

                                                        
2
  Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework of the particular jurisdiction.  

3
  This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to issue an 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.  
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to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the ______ (2) to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by ______ (3) to be kept by the ______ (2) 
have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of ______ (3). 
 
[The form and content of this section of the auditor’s report would vary depending on the nature of the 
auditor’s other reporting responsibilities prescribed by local law or regulation. The matters addressed by 
other law or regulation (referred to as “other reporting responsibilities”) shall be addressed within this 
section unless the other reporting responsibilities address the same topics as those presented under the 
reporting responsibilities required by the SSAs as part of the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section. The reporting of other reporting responsibilities that address the same topics as those 
required by the SSAs may be combined (i.e., included in the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section under the appropriate subheadings) provided that the wording in the auditor’s report 
clearly differentiates the other reporting responsibilities from the reporting that is required by the SSAs 
where such a difference exists.]  
 
 
___________________ (Firm) 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore 
___________________ (Date) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(1) Insert class of persons, e.g. ‘the members’, ‘the unit holders’, etc. 
(2)       Insert type of entity, e.g. ‘Association’, ‘Partnership’, etc. 
(3) Insert reference to appropriate rules, regulations, etc. 
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(1C) Branch of a foreign company 
 

 

Illustration 1C – Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of a Branch of a Foreign Company 
Prepared in Accordance with a Fair Presentation Framework  

 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

 

 Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a branch of a foreign company using a fair 
presentation framework.  

 The financial statements are prepared by management of the branch in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standards in Singapore (a general purpose framework). 

 The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management’s responsibility for the 
financial statements in SSA 210. 

 The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the audit 
evidence obtained. 

 The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants 
and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements relating to the audit 
in Singapore, and the auditor refers to both.  

 Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 
does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the branch’s 
ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with SSA 570 (Revised).  

 The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit matters in 
accordance with SSA 701. 

 The auditor has not obtained any other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report. 

 Those responsible for oversight of the financial statements differ from those responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements. 

 In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting 
responsibilities required under local law. 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
To XYZ Company Limited  
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements1 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the Singapore Operations of XYZ Company Limited (the 
Branch), pursuant to section 373 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act). These financial 
statements comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1, and the statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in head office account

1a
 and statement of cash flows 

for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.  
 
The Branch is a segment of XYZ Company Limited and is not a separately incorporated legal entity.  
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared from the records of the Branch and 
reflect only transactions recorded therein. 
 
 
 
  
                                                        
1 
   The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title 

“Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable. 
1a

  The reference to the Statement of Changes in Head Office Account is for illustrative purposes and might not be applicable 

for some engagements. The notes to the financial statements could address special items like Other Reserves. 
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In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) so as to give a true and 
fair view of the assets used in, and liabilities arising out of, the Branch’s operations in Singapore as at 
31 December 20X1, and of the results, changes in head office account

1a
 and cash flows of the 

Branch’s operations in Singapore for the year ended on that date. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Branch in accordance with the Accounting 
and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public 
Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
Responsibilities of Management and Directors

2
 for the Financial Statements  

 
The Branch’s management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining 
a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly 
authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial 
statements and to maintain accountability of assets. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Branch’s management is responsible for assessing the 
Branch’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Branch’s management either 
intends to liquidate the Branch or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Branch’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Branch’s internal control.

3
  

                                                        
2          

This refers to the directors of the foreign company. 
3
  This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to issue an 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.  
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 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Branch’s management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Branch’s management’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Branch’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Branch to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with the Branch’s management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.  

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In our opinion, the accounting and other records examined by us relating to the Branch’s operations in 
Singapore have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 
 
[The form and content of this section of the auditor’s report would vary depending on the nature of the 
auditor’s other reporting responsibilities prescribed by local law or regulation. The matters addressed by 
other law or regulation (referred to as “other reporting responsibilities”) shall be addressed within this 
section unless the other reporting responsibilities address the same topics as those presented under the 
reporting responsibilities required by the SSAs as part of the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section. The reporting of other reporting responsibilities that address the same topics as those 
required by the SSAs may be combined (i.e., included in the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section under the appropriate subheadings) provided that the wording in the auditor’s report 
clearly differentiates the other reporting responsibilities from the reporting that is required by the SSAs 
where such a difference exists.]  
  

 
 

_________________________ (Firm) 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore 
_______________ (Date) 
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(1D) Bank 
 

 

Illustration 1D – Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of a Singapore Incorporated Listed 
Bank Prepared in Accordance with a Fair Presentation Framework  

 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

 Audit of a complete set of consolidated financial statements and statement of financial position 
of a Singapore incorporated listed bank using a fair presentation framework. The audit is a 
group audit of a bank with subsidiaries (i.e., SSA 600 applies). 

 The financial statements are prepared by management of the bank in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standards in Singapore (a general purpose framework). 

 The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management’s responsibility for the 
financial statements in SSA 210. 

 The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the audit 
evidence obtained. 

 The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants 
and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements relating to the audit 
in Singapore, and the auditor refers to both.  

 Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 
does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the bank’s 
ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with SSA 570 (Revised).  

 Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with SSA 701. 

 The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's report and 
has not identified a material misstatement of the other information.

 1
 

 Those responsible for oversight of the financial statements differ from those responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements. 

 In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting 
responsibilities required under local law. 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
To the Shareholders of ___________ (entity) [or Other Appropriate Addressee] 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements2 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of ______ (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the statement of 
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 20X1, and the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of 
cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of 
financial position of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs), 
[including the modification of the requirements of FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement in respect of loan loss provisioning by Notice to Banks No. 612

3
 “Credit Files, Grading 

                                                        
1   

  SSA 720 (Revised), The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information, Appendix 2 provides illustrative examples 

of the “Other Information” section in different scenarios.  
2  

   The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title 
“Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable. 

3        
For Merchant Banks, the applicable reference will be Notice to Banks No. 1005 “Credit Files, Grading and Provisioning”.  
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and Provisioning” issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore,]
4
 so as to give a true and fair view 

of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 
December 20X1 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and 
consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs).Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting 
and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public 
Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

 

Key Audit Matters  
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.  
 
[Description of each key audit matter in accordance with SSA 701.] 
 

Other Information [or another title if appropriate such as “Information Other than the Financial 
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon”] 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
[information included in the X report,

5
 but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s 

report thereon.] 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard.  
 

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements  
 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of 
internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that 
they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to 
maintain accountability of assets. 
 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

                                                        
4   

The reference to MAS 612 is not required if the Bank has complied with the requirements of FRS 39. 
5
  A more specific description of the other information, such as “the management report and chairman’s statement,” may be 

used to identify the other information. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

6
  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 

                                                        
6
  This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to issue an 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.  
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and 
by those subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been 
properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 
 
[The form and content of this section of the auditor’s report would vary depending on the nature of the 
auditor’s other reporting responsibilities prescribed by local law or regulation. The matters addressed by 
other law or regulation (referred to as “other reporting responsibilities”) shall be addressed within this 
section unless the other reporting responsibilities address the same topics as those presented under the 
reporting responsibilities required by the SSAs as part of the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section. The reporting of other reporting responsibilities that address the same topics as those 
required by the SSAs may be combined (i.e., included in the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section under the appropriate subheadings) provided that the wording in the auditor’s report 
clearly differentiates the other reporting responsibilities from the reporting that is required by the SSAs 
where such a difference exists.]  

 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is [name].  
 
 
___________________________ (Firm) 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore 
_____________ (Date) 
 
 
 

 

Where the Bank has modified the application of the requirements of FRS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement in respect of loan loss provisioning by the requirements of Notice to 
Banks No. 612 “Credit Files, Grading and Provisioning” issued by the MAS, the notes to the financial 
statements should describe this. Suggested wordings are: 
 
Note X:  Basis of Preparation 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards in 
Singapore (FRSs) as required by the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act).  In accordance with 
Section 201(18) of the Act, the requirements of FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement in respect of loan loss provisioning are modified by the requirements of Notice to Banks 
No. 612 “Credit Files, Grading and Provisioning” issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore. 
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(1E) Branch of a foreign bank 
 

 

Illustration 1E – Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of a Branch of a Foreign Bank 
Prepared in Accordance with a Fair Presentation Framework  

 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

 

 Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a branch of a foreign bank using a fair 
presentation framework.  

 The financial statements are prepared by management of the branch in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standards in Singapore (a general purpose framework). 

 The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management’s responsibility for the 
financial statements in SSA 210. 

 The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the audit 
evidence obtained. 

 The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants 
and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements relating to the audit 
in Singapore, and the auditor refers to both.  

 Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 
does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the branch’s 
ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with SSA 570 (Revised).  

 The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit matters in 
accordance with SSA 701. 

 The auditor has not obtained any other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report. 

 Those responsible for oversight of the financial statements differ from those responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements. 

 In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting 
responsibilities required under local law. 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
To XYZ Banking Corporation  
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements1 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the Singapore Operations of XYZ Banking Corporation 
(the Branch), pursuant to section 373 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act). These financial 
statements comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1, and the statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in head office account

2
 and statement of cash flows 

for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.  
 
The Branch is a segment of XYZ Banking Corporation and is not a separately incorporated legal 
entity.  The accompanying financial statements have been prepared from the records of the Branch 
and reflect only transactions recorded therein.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs), [including the 

                                                        
1 
The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title 
“Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable. 

2
 The reference to the Statement of Changes in Head Office Account is for illustrative purposes and might not be applicable for  

some engagements. The notes to the financial statements could address special items like Other Reserves. 
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modification of the requirements of FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in 
respect of loan loss provisioning by Notice to Banks No. 612 “Credit Files, Grading and Provisioning” 
issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore]

3
 so as to give a true and fair view of the assets used 

in, and liabilities arising out of, the Branch’s operations in Singapore as at 31 December 20X1, and of 
the results, changes in head office account and cash flows of the Branch’s operations in Singapore for 
the year ended on that date. 
 

Basis for Opinion 
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Branch in accordance with the Accounting 
and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public 
Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 

Responsibilities of Management and Directors
4 
 for the Financial Statements  

 

The Branch’s management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining 
a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly 
authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial 
statements and to maintain accountability of assets. 
 

In preparing the financial statements, the Branch’s management is responsible for assessing the 
Branch’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Branch’s management either 
intends to liquidate the Branch or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Branch’s financial reporting process. 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements. 
 

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Branch’s internal control.

5
  

                                                        
3
 The reference to MAS 612 is not required if the Branch has complied with the requirements of FRS 39. Refer to Appendix 1D 

if there are no modifications to the opinion section in the auditor’s report. 
4  

This refers to the directors of the foreign bank. 
5
 This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to issue an 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.  
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 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Branch’s management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Branch’s management’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Branch’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Branch to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with the Branch’s management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.  
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In our opinion, the accounting and other records examined by us relating to the Branch’s operations in 
Singapore have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 
 
[The form and content of this section of the auditor’s report would vary depending on the nature of the 
auditor’s other reporting responsibilities prescribed by local law or regulation. The matters addressed by 
other law or regulation (referred to as “other reporting responsibilities”) shall be addressed within this 
section unless the other reporting responsibilities address the same topics as those presented under the 
reporting responsibilities required by the SSAs as part of the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section. The reporting of other reporting responsibilities that address the same topics as those 
required by the SSAs may be combined (i.e., included in the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section under the appropriate subheadings) provided that the wording in the auditor’s report 
clearly differentiates the other reporting responsibilities from the reporting that is required by the SSAs 
where such a difference exists.]  
 
___________________________ (Firm) 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore 
_____________ (Date) 

 
  

Where the Singapore Branch has modified the application of the requirements of FRS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in respect of loan loss provisioning by the requirements 
of Notice to Banks No. 612 “Credit Files, Grading and Provisioning” issued by the Monetary Authority 
of Singapore, the notes to the financial statements should describe this.  Suggested wordings are: 
 
Note X:  Basis of Preparation 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards in 
Singapore (FRSs) as required by the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act).  In accordance with 
Section 201(18) of the Act, the requirements of FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement in respect of loan loss provisioning are modified by the requirements of Notice to Banks 
No. 612 “Credit Files, Grading and Provisioning” issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore. 
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(1F) Foreign company 
 

 

Illustration 1F – Auditor’s Report on Consolidated Financial Statements of a Foreign 
Incorporated Listed Company Prepared in Accordance with a Fair Presentation Framework  

 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

 

 Audit of a complete set of consolidated financial statements of a foreign incorporated listed 
company using a fair presentation framework. The audit is a group audit of a company with 
subsidiaries (i.e., SSA 600 applies). 

 The consolidated financial statements are prepared by management of the company in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (a general purpose framework). 

 The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management’s responsibility for the 
consolidated financial statements in SSA 210. 

 The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the audit 
evidence obtained. 

 The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants 
and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements relating to the audit 
in Singapore, and the auditor refers to both.  

 Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 
does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with SSA 570 (Revised).  

 Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with SSA 701. 

 The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's report and 
has not identified a material misstatement of the other information.

 1
 

 Those responsible for oversight of the consolidated financial statements differ from those 
responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 

 The auditor has no other reporting responsibilities required under local law. 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
To the Shareholders of ___________ (entity) [or Other Appropriate Addressee] 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ______ and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1, and the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements are properly drawn up in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) so as to present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 20X1 and its 
consolidated financial performance, its consolidated changes in equity and its consolidated cash flows 
for the year ended on that date. 
 
  

                                                        
1
  SSA 720 (Revised), The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information, Appendix 2 provides illustrative examples of 

the “Other Information” section in different scenarios. 
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Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and 
Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

 
Key Audit Matters  
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
 
[Description of each key audit matter in accordance with SSA 701.] 

 
Other Information [or another title if appropriate such as “Information Other than the Financial 
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon”] 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
[information included in the X report,

2
 but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s 

report thereon.] 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

3
  

 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with FRSs and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process.

 
 

 
 
 
  

                                                        
2
  A more specific description of the other information, such as “the management report and chairman’s statement,” may be 
used to identify the other information. 

3
  Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework of the particular jurisdiction.  
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

4
  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.  
 
  

                                                        
4
  This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to issue an 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the consolidated financial statements.  
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is [name].  
 
 
 
 
__________________________ (Firm) 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore 
 
______________________ (Date) 
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(1G) Society 
 

 

Illustration 1G – Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of a Society Prepared in Accordance 
with a Fair Presentation Framework  

 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

 

 Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a society using a fair presentation 
framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., SSA 600 does not apply). 

 The financial statements are prepared by management of the society in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standards in Singapore (a general purpose framework). 

 The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management’s responsibility for the 
financial statements in SSA 210. 

 The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the audit 
evidence obtained. 

 The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants 
and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements relating to the audit 
in Singapore, and the auditor refers to both.  

 Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 
does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the society’s 
ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with SSA 570 (Revised).  

 The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit matters in 
accordance with SSA 701. 

 The auditor has not obtained any other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report.  

 Those responsible for oversight of the financial statements differ from those responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements. 

 In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting 
responsibilities required under local law. 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
To the Members of ___________ (Society) 
 
(Registered under the Societies Act, Chapter 311) 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements1 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of ___________ (the Society), which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of the Societies Act, Chapter 311 (the Act) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore 
(FRSs) so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the state of affairs of the Society as at 31 
December 20X1 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Society for the year ended 
on that date.  

                                                        
1
   The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title 

“Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable. 
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Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Society in accordance with the Accounting 
and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public 
Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements

2
 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.   
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Society’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Society or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Society’s financial reporting 
process.

 
 

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Society’s internal control.

3
  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Society’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

                                                        
2
  Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework of the particular jurisdiction. 

3
  This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to issue an 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.  
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to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Society to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In our opinion: 

 

(a) the accounting and other records required by the Societies Regulations enacted under the Act 

to be kept by the Society have been properly kept in accordance with those Regulations; and  

(b) [the fund-raising appeal held during the period _________ to _________ has been carried out 
in accordance with Regulation 6 of the Societies Regulations issued under the Act and proper 
accounts and other records have been kept of the fund-raising appeal]*. 

 
[The form and content of this section of the auditor’s report would vary depending on the nature of the 
auditor’s other reporting responsibilities prescribed by local law or regulation. The matters addressed by 
other law or regulation (referred to as “other reporting responsibilities”) shall be addressed within this 
section unless the other reporting responsibilities address the same topics as those presented under the 
reporting responsibilities required by the SSAs as part of the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section. The reporting of other reporting responsibilities that address the same topics as those 
required by the SSAs may be combined (i.e., included in the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section under the appropriate subheadings) provided that the wording in the auditor’s report 
clearly differentiates the other reporting responsibilities from the reporting that is required by the SSAs 
where such a difference exists.]  
 
 
 
_______________________ (Firm) 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 

 

Singapore 
_____________ (Date)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
* To delete if there had been no fund-raising appeal conducted by the Society during the financial 
period. 
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(1H) Charity (Society) 
 

 

Illustration 1H – Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of a Charity Registered as a Society 
Prepared in Accordance with a Fair Presentation Framework  

 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

 

 Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a charity using a fair presentation framework. 
The audit is not a group audit (i.e., SSA 600 does not apply). 

 The financial statements are prepared by management of the charity in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standards in Singapore (a general purpose framework). 

 The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management’s responsibility for the 
financial statements in SSA 210. 

 The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the audit 
evidence obtained. 

 The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants 
and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements relating to the audit 
in Singapore, and the auditor refers to both.  

 Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 
does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the charity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with SSA 570 (Revised).  

 The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit matters in 
accordance with SSA 701. 

 The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's report and 
has not identified a material misstatement of the other information.

 1
 

 Those responsible for oversight of the financial statements differ from those responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements. 

 In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting 
responsibilities required under local law. 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
To the Members of ___________ (Charity) 
 
This illustrative report is for the situation where the Charity is registered as a Society under the 
Societies Act, Chapter 311, as well as the Charities Act, Chapter 37. 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements2 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of ___________ (the Charity), which comprise the 
[statement of financial position/balance sheet*] as at 31 December 20X1, and the [statement of 
comprehensive income/statement of financial activities*], statement of changes in equity and 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.  
 

                                                        
1   

  SSA 720 (Revised), The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information, Appendix 2 provides illustrative examples 

of the “Other Information” section in different scenarios.  
2
   The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title 

“Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable. 
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In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of the Societies Act, Chapter 311 (the Societies Act), the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and 
other relevant regulations (the Charities Act and Regulations) and Financial Reporting Standards in 
Singapore (FRSs)

3
 so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the state of affairs of the Charity as 

at 31 December 20X1 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Charity for the year 
ended on that date.  
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Charity in accordance with the Accounting 
and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public 
Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
Other Information [or another title if appropriate such as “Information Other than the Financial 
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon”] 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
[information included in the X report,

4
 but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s 

report thereon.] 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard.  
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements

5
 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the provisions of the Societies Act, the Charities Act and Regulations and FRSs

3
, 

and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.   
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Charity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Charity or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Charity’s financial reporting 
process.

 
 

 
  

                                                        
3       

This may be changed to Charities Accounting Standards if applicable. 
4
    A more specific description of the other information, such as “the management report and chairman’s statement,” may be 

used to identify the other information. 
5
  Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework of the particular jurisdiction.  
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Charity’s internal control.

6
  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Charity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Charity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In our opinion: 
 
(a) the accounting and other records required to be kept by the Charity have been properly kept in 

accordance with the provisions of the Societies Regulations enacted under the Societies Act, 
the Charities Act and Regulations; and  
 

(b) [the fund-raising appeal held during the period _________ to _________ has been carried out 
in accordance with Regulation 6 of the Societies Regulations issued under the Societies Act 
and proper accounts and other records have been kept of the fund-raising appeal]*. 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                        
6
  This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to issue an 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.  
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[Where the Charity has IPC status
7
: 

 
During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during 
the year: 
 
(a) the Charity has not used the donation moneys in accordance with its objectives as required 

under Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and 
 

(b) the Charity has not complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 of the Charities 
(Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations]*  

 
Or  
 

[Where the Charity does not have IPC status but conducts fund-raising activities
7
: 

 
During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during 
the year, the fund-raising appeal held during the period _________ to _________ has not been 
carried out in accordance with Regulation 7 of the Charities (Fund-Raising Appeals for Local and 
Foreign Charitable Purposes) Regulations 2012, and that the proper accounts and other records have 
not been kept of the fund-raising appeal]*. 

 
 
[The form and content of this section of the auditor’s report would vary depending on the nature of the 
auditor’s other reporting responsibilities prescribed by local law or regulation. The matters addressed by 
other law or regulation (referred to as “other reporting responsibilities”) shall be addressed within this 
section unless the other reporting responsibilities address the same topics as those presented under the 
reporting responsibilities required by the SSAs as part of the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section. The reporting of other reporting responsibilities that address the same topics as those 
required by the SSAs may be combined (i.e., included in the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section under the appropriate subheadings) provided that the wording in the auditor’s report 
clearly differentiates the other reporting responsibilities from the reporting that is required by the SSAs 
where such a difference exists.]  
 
 
 
_______________________ (Firm) 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 

 

Singapore 
_____________ (Date)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
* To delete where inapplicable. 

                                                        
7
    This section needs to be tailored according to the specific legislation requirements that are applicable to the Charity. The 

form and content of this section will vary depending on the nature of the auditor’s other reporting responsibilities.   

 
In this illustration, it is assumed that the Charity is registered as a Society under the Societies Act. Where it is also awarded 
the IPC status, the auditor has additional reporting responsibilities set out in the Charities (Institutions of a Public 

Character) Regulations. 
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(1I) Charity (Company Limited by Guarantee) 
 

 

Illustration 1I – Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of a Charity Prepared in Accordance 
with a Fair Presentation Framework  

 

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed: 

 

 Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a charity using a fair presentation framework. 
The audit is not a group audit (i.e., SSA 600 does not apply). 

 The financial statements are prepared by management of the charity in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standards in Singapore (a general purpose framework). 

 The terms of the audit engagement reflect the description of management’s responsibility for the 
financial statements in SSA 210. 

 The auditor has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”) opinion is appropriate based on the audit 
evidence obtained. 

 The relevant ethical requirements that apply to the audit comprise the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants 
and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements relating to the audit 
in Singapore, and the auditor refers to both.  

 Based on the audit evidence obtained, the auditor has concluded that a material uncertainty 
does not exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the charity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with SSA 570 (Revised).  

 The auditor is not required, and has otherwise not decided, to communicate key audit matters in 
accordance with SSA 701. 

 The auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor's report and 
has not identified a material misstatement of the other information.

 1
 

 Those responsible for oversight of the financial statements differ from those responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements. 

 In addition to the audit of the financial statements, the auditor has other reporting 
responsibilities required under local law. 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
To the Members of ___________ (Charity) 
 
This illustrative report is for the situation where the Charity is incorporated as a Company limited by 
guarantee. The Charity is also registered under the Charities Act, Chapter 37. Where the Charity is 
not incorporated as a Company under the Companies Act, refer to Appendix 1B Non- incorporated 
entity for a sample of the auditor’s report to be issued. 
 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements2 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of ______ (the Charity), which comprise the [statement of 
financial position/balance sheet*] as at 31 December 20X1, and the [statement of comprehensive 
income/statement of financial activities*], statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows 

                                                        
1       

SSA 720 (Revised), The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information, Appendix 2 provides illustrative examples 

of the “Other Information” section in different scenarios. 
2       

The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second sub-title 

“Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable. 
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for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Companies Act), the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and 
other relevant regulations (the Charities Act and Regulations) and Financial Reporting Standards in 
Singapore (FRSs)

3
 so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Charity as at 31 

December 20X1 and of the financial performance, changes in the funds and cash flows of the Charity 
for the year ended on that date. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Charity in accordance with the Accounting 
and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public 
Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Other Information [or another title if appropriate such as “Information Other than the Financial 
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon”] 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
[information included in the X report,

4
 but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s 

report thereon.] 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard.  
 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, the Charities Act and Regulations and FRSs

3
, 

and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; 
and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the 
preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Charity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Charity or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance comprises the directors [and the governing board

5
]. Their 

responsibilities include overseeing the Charity’s financial reporting process. 
 

                                                        
3       

This may be changed to Charities Accounting Standards if applicable. 
4
    A more specific description of the other information, such as “the management report and chairman’s statement,” may be 

used to identify the other information. 
5
  Or other term that is appropriate for the Charity or to delete if inapplicable. 



  33 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Charity’s internal control.

6
  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Charity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Charity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required to be kept by the Charity have been 
properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, and the Charities Act and 
Regulations. 
 
  

                                                        
6
  This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to issue an 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.  
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[Where the Charity has IPC status
7
: 

 
During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during 
the year: 
 
(a) the Charity has not used the donation moneys in accordance with its objectives as required 

under Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and 
 

(b) the Charity has not complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 of the Charities 
(Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations]*  

 

Or 

[Where the Charity does not have IPC status but conducts fund-raising activities
6
: 

 
During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during 
the year the Charity has not complied with the requirements of Regulation 7 of the Charities (Fund-
Raising Appeals for Local and Foreign Charitable Purposes) Regulations 2012.]* 

 
[The form and content of this section of the auditor’s report would vary depending on the nature of the 
auditor’s other reporting responsibilities prescribed by local law or regulation. The matters addressed by 
other law or regulation (referred to as “other reporting responsibilities”) shall be addressed within this 
section unless the other reporting responsibilities address the same topics as those presented under the 
reporting responsibilities required by the SSAs as part of the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section. The reporting of other reporting responsibilities that address the same topics as those 
required by the SSAs may be combined (i.e., included in the Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section under the appropriate subheadings) provided that the wording in the auditor’s report 
clearly differentiates the other reporting responsibilities from the reporting that is required by the SSAs 
where such a difference exists.] 
 
 
 
_________________________ (Firm) 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore 
_____________ (Date) 
 
 

 

 

 
* To delete where inapplicable. 
  

                                                        
7
    This section needs to be tailored according to the specific legislation requirements that are applicable to the Charity. The 

form and content of this section will vary depending on the nature of the auditor’s other reporting responsibilities.  

 
In this illustration, it is assumed that the Charity is incorporated as a Company limited by guarantee under the Singapore 
Companies Act. Where it is also awarded the IPC status, the auditor has additional reporting responsibilities set out in the 

Singapore Companies Act and the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations. 
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Appendix 4 
SAMPLE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S SUPPLEMENTARY REPORTS TO RELEVANT 
AUTHORITIES 
 
The sample supplementary reports contained in Appendix 4 are drafted for the purpose of submission 
to the respective authorities. Any adaptation of the supplementary reports in this Appendix for 
submission to other organisations is not appropriate. 

 
(4A) Supplementary Reports for Banks 

 
Introduction 
 
1 Banks are required to comply with the Banking Act and all guidelines, circulars and Notices to 

Banks issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (MAS). In accordance with the 
requirements set by the MAS, banks have to submit an auditor’s supplementary report in addition 
to the statutory audit report. A specimen of the supplementary report agreed by the MAS and the 
Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants (the Institute) is set out in this Appendix. This 
Appendix provides guidelines concerning the supplementary report to be issued. 

 
MAS guidelines and circulars 
 
2 In the specimen report, reference is made to guidelines and circulars issued by the MAS. These 

guidelines and circulars are issued to banks from time to time, by the MAS. Relevant members of 
the Institute should also consider any specific terms and conditions issued to their banking clients.  

 
Relevant laws and regulations 
 
3 Paragraph (c) in the opinion paragraph of the specimen report refers to ‘relevant laws and 

regulations’. In case of ambiguity or doubt, reference should be made to such professional 
standards or guidelines as may be issued by the Institute from time to time. Without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing, ‘relevant laws and regulations’ in this context are defined as those 
relevant to and within the scope of a normal statutory audit carried out under the Companies Act, 
Chapter 50 and the Banking Act, Chapter 19. From time to time, the MAS may give guidance as 
to its emphasis on specific laws and regulations included within the scope of a normal statutory 
audit. Members of the Institute may also be seeking clarification regarding similar matters. To 
ensure that enquiries are properly dealt with, members should direct their enquiries to the 
Institute, which will provide the necessary clarification after consulting with the MAS, where 
appropriate. 

 
4 For the purpose of paragraph (c) in the opinion paragraph of the specimen report, it is the 

Institute’s understanding that the MAS would require members of the Institute to report any non-
compliance without regard to materiality so long as the non-compliance was observed during the 
course of the normal statutory audit carried out under the Companies Act and the Banking Act. 

 
Client’s representations 
 
5 In view of the requirements of the MAS, relevant members of the Institute should include specific 

references to these in the letters of representation obtained from their banking clients. In the 
illustrative letter of representation shown in Singapore Standard on Auditing 580, Written 
Representations, the following may be added to the third paragraph: 

 
 ‘There has been no non-compliance with or violation of the Banking Act, Companies Act, Notices 

to Banks, guidelines and circulars issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (MAS) or such 
other laws and regulations as referred to by the MAS in its Notices to Banks.’ 

  



  36 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT 
 
[Chief Executive Officer] of the Bank 
[Name of Bank] 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of ______ (the Bank), which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. Our auditor’s report on these 
financial statements was issued on _________ [insert date]. 
 
During the course of our audit [, except for those matters referred to in our long form report dated 
_________ ], nothing came to our notice that caused us to believe that: 
 
(a) known bad debts of material amounts had not been written off or inadequate allowance had been 

made for it; 
 

(b) adequate allowance had not been made for known material doubtful debts and for any material 
impairment of other assets; or 

 
(c) there was non-compliance with the Banking Act; Companies Act, Chapter 50; Notices to Banks; 

guidelines or circulars issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (MAS) or any other relevant 
laws or regulations

8
 [except for the following matters which we wish to bring to your attention:]. 

 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the Accounting and 
Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public 
Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Financial Reporting Standards 
in Singapore and the requirements of the Banking Act and Notices to Banks, guidelines or circulars 
issued by the MAS, and for devising and maintaining such internal controls, including a system of 
internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that 
they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to 
maintain accountability of assets.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

 
 

 

                                                        
8
  Explanatory note: In case of ambiguity or doubt, reference should be made to such professional standards or guidelines as 

may be issued by the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants from time to time. Without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, ‘relevant laws and regulations’ in this context are defined as those relevant to and within the scope of a normal 
statutory audit carried out under the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and the Banking Act, Chapter 19. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

9
 In this connection, we have 

reviewed the accounting system and system of internal control in operation in the Bank and 
reliance has been placed on internal controls, where appropriate. Because of the inherent 
limitations in any accounting and internal control system, errors and irregularities may 
nevertheless occur and not be detected. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 [Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.]

10
  

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  
 
[We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.]

11
 

 
 

                                                        
9
  This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to issue an 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.  
10

  This paragraph is included if the audit is a group audit of a bank with subsidiaries. Other relevant parts of the auditor’s 
report should be amended accordingly to reflect a group audit. 

11
  This paragraph is included if the bank is a listed entity.  
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Restriction on Distribution and Use 
 
This report is prepared to assist the Bank to meet the requirements of the MAS. As a result, the report 
may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the Bank and the MAS and 
should not be distributed to or used by parties other than the Bank or the MAS. 
 
[The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s supplementary report is 
[name]].

12
 

 
 
 
 __________________________ (Firm) 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore  

 _________________________ (Date) 

                                                        
12

  The name of the engagement partner is included if the bank is a listed entity.  
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(4B) Supplementary Reports for Finance Companies 

 
Introduction 
 
1 Finance companies are required to comply with the Finance Companies Act and all guidelines, 

circulars and Notices to Finance Companies issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore 
(MAS). In accordance with the requirements set by the MAS, finance companies are required to 
submit an auditor’s supplementary report in addition to the statutory audit report. The MAS has 
requested that the Independent Auditor’s Supplementary Report takes the format of the appendix 
to the “Independent Auditor’s Supplementary Report for Banks” except that the words ‘finance 
company’, ‘Finance Companies Act’ and ‘Notices to Finance Companies’ are to be used in place 
of ‘bank’, ‘Banking Act’ and ‘Notices to Banks’ respectively. 

 
This Appendix provides guidelines concerning the Independent Auditor’s Supplementary Report 
to be issued with respect to finance companies. 

 
Notices to Finance Companies, guidelines and circulars 
 
2 The MAS has issued a set of Notices to Finance Companies, copies of which may be obtained 

from the MAS. Members of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants (the Institute) should 
consider any specific terms and conditions issued to finance companies, which are their clients. 

 
Relevant laws and regulations and client’s representations 
 
3 For the rest of the text of this Appendix, please see paragraphs 3 to 5 of the preamble to the 

“Independent Auditor’s Supplementary Report for Banks”, where the “Independent Auditor’s 
Supplementary Report for Banks” refers to banks, the ‘Banking Act’ and ‘Notices to Banks’, for 
this Statement read ‘finance companies’, the ‘Finance Companies Act’ and ‘Notices to Finance 
Companies’ respectively. 

 
4 If, in the course of the audit, members of the Institute come across any violation of or non-

compliance with a law or regulation which may not be relevant to the financial statements and 
they are in doubt as to whether it should be reported, they should direct their inquiries to the 
Institute, which will provide the necessary clarification after consulting with the MAS, where 
appropriate. 
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 (4C) Supplementary Reports for Merchant Banks 

 
Introduction 
 
1 Merchant banks are required to comply with the relevant legislation as well as Directives and 

Notices to Merchant Banks and other regulations issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore 
(MAS). In accordance with the requirements set by the MAS, merchant banks are required to 
submit an auditor’s supplementary report in addition to the statutory audit report. The Independent 
Auditor’s Supplementary Report should take the format of this Appendix. This Appendix provides 
guidelines concerning the supplementary report to be issued with respect to merchant banks. 

 
MAS directives, notices, etc. 
 
2 In the specimen Independent Auditor’s Supplementary Report shown in the Appendix, reference 

is made to Directives and Notices to Merchant Banks, guidelines, terms and conditions and 
circulars issued by the MAS. A copy of ‘Directives and Notices to Merchant Banks’ may be 
obtained from the MAS. In addition to the directives and notices, the publication contains the 
guidelines governing the operations of merchant banks and the terms and conditions governing 
the operations of Asian Currency Units. 

 
Relevant laws and regulations 
 
3 Paragraph (c) in the opinion paragraph of the specimen report refers to ‘relevant laws and 

regulations’. In case of ambiguity or doubt, reference should be made to such professional 
standards or guidelines as may be issued by the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants 
(the Institute) from time to time. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, ‘relevant laws and 
regulations’ in this context are defined as those relevant to and within the scope of a normal 
statutory audit carried out under the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and pursuant to the Directives 
and Notices to Merchant Banks. From time to time, the MAS may give guidance as to its 
emphasis on specific laws and regulations included within the scope of a normal statutory audit. 
Members of the Institute may also be seeking clarification regarding similar matters. To ensure 
that enquiries are properly dealt with, members should direct their enquiries to the Institute, which 
will provide the necessary clarification after consulting with the MAS, where appropriate. 

 
4 For the purpose of paragraph (c) in the opinion paragraph of the specimen report, it is the 

Institute’s understanding that the MAS would require members of the Institute to report any non-
compliance without regard to materiality so long as the non-compliance was observed during the 
course of the normal statutory audit carried out under the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and 
pursuant to the Directives and Notices to Merchant Banks. 

 
Client’s representation 
 
5 In view of the requirements of the MAS, relevant members of the Institute should include specific 

references to these in the letters of representation obtained from their banking clients. In the 
illustrative letter of representation shown in Singapore Standard on Auditing 580, Written 
Representations, the following may be added to the third paragraph: 

 
 ‘There has been no non-compliance with or violation of the Monetary Authority of Singapore Act, 

Banking Act, Companies Act, Directives and Notices to Merchant Banks, guidelines, terms and 
conditions, and circulars issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (MAS) or such other laws 
and regulations as referred to by the MAS in its Directives and Notices to Merchant Banks.’ 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT 
 
[Chief Executive Officer] of the Merchant Bank 
[Name of Merchant Bank] 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of ______ (the Merchant Bank), which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. Our auditor’s report on 
these financial statements was issued on _________ [insert date]. 
 
During the course of our audit [, except for those matters referred to in our long form report dated 
_________], nothing came to our notice that caused us to believe that: 
 

a) known bad debts of material amounts had not been written off or inadequate allowance had 
been made for it; 
 

b) adequate allowance had not been made for known material doubtful debts and for any material 
impairment of other assets; or 

 
c) there was non-compliance with the Monetary Authority of Singapore Act; Banking Act; 

Companies Act, Chapter 50; Directives and Notices to Merchant Banks; guidelines, terms and 
conditions or circulars issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (MAS) or any other 
relevant laws or regulations

1
 [except for the following matters which we wish to bring to your 

attention:]. 
 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Merchant Bank in accordance with the 
Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for 
Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Financial Reporting Standards 
in Singapore and the requirements of the Monetary Authority of Singapore Act, the Banking Act, 
Directives and Notices to Merchant Banks, guidelines, terms and conditions or circulars issued by the 
MAS, and for devising and maintaining such internal controls, including a system of internal 
accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against 
loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are 
recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain 
accountability of assets.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Merchant Bank’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Merchant Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

                                                        
1
  Explanation note: In case of ambiguity or doubt, reference should be made to such professional standards or guidelines as 

may be issued by the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants from time to time. Without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, ‘relevant laws and regulations’ in this context are defined as those relevant to and within the scope of a normal 
statutory audit carried out under the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and pursuant to Directives and Notices to Merchant Banks. 
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The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Merchant Bank’s financial reporting process.
  

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Merchant Bank’s internal control.

2
 In this connection, we 

have reviewed the accounting system and system of internal control in operation in the 
Merchant Bank and reliance has been placed on internal controls, where appropriate. Because 
of the inherent limitations in any accounting and internal control system, errors and irregularities 
may nevertheless occur and not be detected. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Merchant Bank’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Merchant Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 [Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.]

3
  

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  
 
[We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.]

 4 

                                                        
2
  This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to issue an 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.  
3
  This paragraph is included if the audit is a group audit of a bank with subsidiaries. Other relevant parts of the auditor’s 

report should be amended accordingly to reflect a group audit. 
4
  This paragraph is included if the bank is a listed entity.  
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Restriction on Distribution and Use 
 
This report is prepared to assist the Merchant Bank to meet the requirements of the MAS. As a result, 
the report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the Merchant 
Bank and the MAS and should not be distributed to or used by parties other than the Merchant Bank 
or the MAS. 
 
[The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s supplementary report is 
[name]].

5
 

 
 
 

 __________________________ (Firm) 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore  

 _________________________ (Date) 

                                                        
5
  The name of the engagement partner is included if the bank is a listed entity.  
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 (4D) Supplementary Reports for Members of CDP, SGX-DC, SGX-ST and SGX-DT 

 
Introduction 
 
1 This Appendix provides guidelines concerning the Independent Auditor’s Supplementary Report 

to be issued with respect to members of The Central Depository Pte Limited (CDP), Singapore 
Exchange Derivatives Clearing Limited (SGX-DC), Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (SGX-ST) or Singapore Exchange Derivatives Trading Limited (SGX-DT) (whichever is 
applicable). 

 
2 Members of CDP, SGX-DC, SGX-ST and/or SGX-DT (whichever is applicable) are required to 

comply with legislations like the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) or any subsidiary 
legislation promulgated under it, Notices, Guidelines and Circulars issued by the Monetary 
Authority of Singapore (MAS) and the rules of CDP, SGX-DC, SGX-ST or SGX-DT (whichever is 
applicable).  

 
3 In accordance with the requirements under the rules of CDP, SGX-DC, SGX-ST or SGX-DT 

(whichever is applicable), members are required to submit an Independent Auditor’s 
Supplementary Report in addition to the statutory audit report. A specimen of the Independent 
Auditor’s Supplementary Report is shown in this Appendix. 

 
Relevant laws and regulations 
 
4 If, in the course of the audit, members of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants (the 

Institute) come across any violation of or non-compliance with a law or regulation which may not 
be relevant to the financial statements and they are in doubt as to whether it should be reported, 
they should direct their inquiries to the Institute, which will provide the necessary clarification after 
consulting with the relevant authorities where appropriate. 

 
Client’s representations 
 
5 In view of the requirements of the MAS and SGX, relevant members of the Institute should 

include specific references to these in the letters of representation obtained from their relevant 
clients. In the illustrative letter of representation shown in Singapore Standard on Auditing 580, 
Written Representations, the following may be added to the third paragraph: 

 
‘There has been no non-compliance with or violation of the capital and financial requirements as 
set out in the Rules of CDP/ SGX-DC/ SGX-ST/ SGX-DT and the Securities and Futures 
(Financial and Margin Requirements for Holders of Capital Markets Services Licences) 
Regulations (Rg 13).’  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT 
 

[Chief Executive Officer] of the Company 
[Name of Company] 
 

Opinion 
 

We have audited the financial statements of ______ (the Company), which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. Our auditor’s report on these 
financial statements was issued on _________ [insert date]. 
 

During the course of our audit [, except for those matters referred to in the attached long form report 
dated ____________], nothing came to our notice that caused us to believe that: 
 

(a) the Company has not complied with the capital and financial requirements as set out in the 
Rules of *The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (CDP)/ *Singapore Exchange Derivatives 
Clearing Limited (SGX-DC)/ *Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST)/ 
*Singapore Exchange Derivatives Trading Limited (SGX-DT) and the Securities and Futures 
(Financial and Margin Requirements for Holders of Capital Markets Services Licences) 
Regulations (Rg 13); 

 

(b) the Company’s books of account and records are those not usual in a business of that nature 
and do not appear to have been kept in a proper manner in accordance with the provisions of 
the Rules of *CDP/ *SGX-DC/ *SGX-ST/ *SGX-DT and the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 
289) or any subsidiary legislation promulgated under it; or 

 

(c) the financial position of the Company is such that it is unable to conduct its business on sound 
lines, having regard to the nature and volume of the business transacted during the year as 
shown by its books of account and records (the expression “sound lines” on which the 
Company is to conduct its business means that the Company is able to meet its financial 
obligations in the ordinary course of business as they fall due). 

 

Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Accounting 
and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public 
Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 
 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, Financial Reporting Standards in 
Singapore, Rules of *CDP/ *SGX-DC/ *SGX-ST/ *SGX-DT, Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) 
and the Securities and Futures (Financial and Margin Requirements for Holders of Capital Markets 
Services Licences) Regulations (Rg 13), and for devising and maintaining such internal controls, 
including a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that 
assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are 
properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair 
financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets. 
 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
  

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

1
 In this connection, we have 

reviewed the accounting system and system of internal control in operation in the Company and 
reliance has been placed on internal controls, where appropriate. Because of the inherent 
limitations in any accounting and internal control system, errors and irregularities may 
nevertheless occur and not be detected. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 [Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.]

2
  

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  
 
[We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.]

 3  

                                                        
1
  This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to issue an 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.  
2
  This paragraph is included if the audit is a group audit of a company with subsidiaries. Other relevant parts of the auditor’s 

report should be amended accordingly to reflect a group audit. 
3
  This paragraph is included if the company is a listed entity.  
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Restriction on Distribution and Use 
 
This report is prepared to assist the Company to meet the requirement as set out in the Rules of the 
*CDP/ *SGX-DC/ *SGX-ST/ *SGX-DT. As a result, the report may not be suitable for another purpose. 
Our report is intended solely for the Company and should not be distributed to or used by parties 
other than the Company or the *CDP/ *SGX-DC/ *SGX-ST/ *SGX-DT.  
 
[The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s supplementary report is 
[name]].

4
 

 
 
 
 __________________________ (Firm) 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore  

 _________________________ (Date)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
*To be deleted (where applicable) 

 

                                                        
4
  The name of the engagement partner is included if the company is a listed entity.  
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(4E) Private Lotteries Permits (Fruit Machine/ Tombola/ Lucky Draw) 
 
 
Introduction 
 
Private lottery means a lottery in which tickets or chances are offered for sale only to members of a 
society* which is established for purposes not connected with gaming, wagering or lotteries and such 
number of guests of each member as the Minister of Home Affairs may prescribe by regulations. 
Societies engaged in the promotion or conduct of any private lottery (which includes fruit machines, 
tombola and lucky draws) are required to comply with the relevant legislation. 
 
*Society includes a club, an institution, an organisation or other association or body of persons by 
whatever name called, and each local or affiliated branch or section of a society shall be regarded as 
a separate and distinct society. 
 
Relevant laws and regulations 
 
Under the Private Lotteries Act 2011 (Act 7 of 2011) (the Act), any private lottery promoted or 
conducted without a permit granted by the Permit Officer shall be unlawful. In granting a permit under 
the Act, the Permit Officer may impose such conditions relating to the promotion and conduct of a 
private lottery as he may think fit but there shall in all cases be imposed the following conditions:  
 
(a) no profit shall accrue to any individual person from the conduct of such lottery; and  
 
(b) no commission either in money or money’s-worth including by way of free tickets or chances shall 

be payable in respect of the sales of tickets or chances. 
 
In accordance with the requirements set out by the Singapore Police Force (in this case, the Permit 
Officer), one of the documents to be submitted for the renewal of the private lotteries permit is a copy 
of the society’s last audited annual statements of account, stating if any profits from the private 
lotteries were accrued to any individuals and if any commission either in money or money’s-worth 
including by way of free tickets or chances was paid in respect of the sales of tickets or chances.  
 
A specimen of the auditor’s report is shown in this Appendix. The purpose of this report is solely for 
submission to the Singapore Police Force to assist the society in its renewal of the private lotteries 
permit.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT 
 

[Management Committee] of the _______
1
 

[Name] 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of ________ (the _______

1
), which comprise the statement 

of financial position as at 31 December 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement 
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. Our auditor’s report on these 
financial statements was issued on _________ [insert date]. 
 
During the course of our audit, nothing came to our notice that caused us to believe that, in all 
material respects,  
 
(a) any profits from the private lotteries were accrued to any individuals; or  
 
(b) any commission either in money or money’s-worth including by way of free tickets or chances was 

paid in respect of the sales of tickets or chances. 
 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the _______

1
 in accordance with the Accounting 

and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public 
Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements

2
 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the provisions of the Societies Act, Chapter 311

3
 and Financial Reporting Standards 

in Singapore, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.   
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the _______

1
’s ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the _______

1
 or 

to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the _______

1
’s financial reporting 

process.
 
 

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

                                                        
1
  Insert type of entity, e.g. ‘Club’, ‘Society’, ‘Association’, ‘Institution’, etc. 

2
  Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework of the particular jurisdiction.  

3
  To delete if not applicable 
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aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the _______

1
’s internal control.

4
 In this connection, we have 

reviewed the accounting system and system of internal control in operation in the _______
1
 and 

reliance has been placed on internal controls, where appropriate. Because of the inherent 
limitations in any accounting and internal control system, errors and irregularities may 
nevertheless occur and not be detected. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the _______

1
’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the _______

1
 to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 [Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.]

5
  

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  
 
Restriction on Distribution and Use 
 
This report is prepared to assist the _______

1
 to meet the requirement of the Singapore Police Force 

in the _______
1
’s renewal of the private lotteries permit. As a result, the report may not be suitable for 

another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the _______
1
 and the Singapore Police Force and 

should not be distributed to or used by parties other than the _______
1
 or the Singapore Police Force. 

 

 
 __________________________ (Firm) 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore  
 _________________________ (Date)  

                                                        
4
  This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to issue an 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.  
5
  This paragraph is included if the audit is a group audit of a entity with subsidiaries. Other relevant parts of the auditor’s 

report should be amended accordingly to reflect a group audit. 
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(4F)    Report on Depository Agent for The Central Depository (Pte) Limited 
 
 
Introduction 
 

1 Depository agents (DAs) are required to comply with CDP Depository Rules, the DA Agreement 
and DA Circulars issued by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (CDP). The Independent 
Auditor’s Supplementary Report on DAs for the CDP should take the format of this Appendix. This 
Appendix provides guidelines concerning the report to be issued with respect to DAs. 
 

2 In many instances, the auditor does not have direct access to the communications about the DA 
Circulars from the CDP to its DAs. The auditor has to inquire of the DA’s management and update 
his understanding about recent communications, including the DA Circulars. 

 
3 The report from the auditor should include reference to the DA Agreement and specific DA 

Circulars to avoid ambiguity in the report. 
 
Client’s representation 
 
4 In view of the requirements of the CDP, relevant members of the Institute of Singapore Chartered 

Accountants should include specific reference to these in the letters of representation obtained 
from their DA clients. In the illustrative letter of representation shown in Singapore Standard on 
Auditing 580, Written Representations, the following may be added to the third paragraph: 
 
‘There has been no non-compliance with or violation of the CDP Depository Rules, the DA 
Agreement and DA Circulars issued by the CDP.’  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT 
 
The Board of Directors 
[Name of entity] 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of ________

1
 (the ________

2
), which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at 31 December 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. Our auditor’s report on 
these financial statements was issued on ________ [insert date].  
 
During the course of our audit, nothing came to our notice that caused us to believe that the 
________

2
 had not complied with the following obligations under [brief description of or reference to 

relevant requirements]
3
 (collectively referred to in this report as the CDP Rules)

4
: 

 

1. open and maintain one or more sub-accounts for all deposited securities held for its own account. 

2. open and maintain a separate sub-account for each of its clients for all deposited securities held 
on account of such clients. 

3. at all times segregate the deposited securities held in each sub-account from those held in other 
sub-accounts. 

4. at all times segregate deposited securities held for its own account from deposited securities held 
for the account of each of its clients. 

5. any transfer of securities categorised electronically in Intra Sub-Account Transfer by the 
________

2
 as “No Change in Beneficial Owner Transfer”, in accordance with the CDP Rules, 

corresponds with the actual transfer carried out. 

6. the categorisation of transfer of securities effected via Electronic Transfer System corresponds 
with the actual transfer of securities carried out. 

7. engage only in normal custodian services as set out in the letter of undertaking dated [insert date] 
from the ________

2
 to The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (the CDP)

 5
. 

8. within five (5) calendar months after the close of each financial year, cause its external auditors to 
certify in writing in a manner acceptable to the CDP, that its obligations in the CDP Rules as 
prescribed by the CDP, have been duly complied with. 

During the course of our audit, pursuant to DA Circular – DA/GM/28/2015, nothing came to our notice 
that caused us to believe that there had been any changes in the fitness and propriety of key 
appointment holders, instances of financial distress and legal actions taken against the ________

2
. 

  

 

[For entities that operate omnibus accounts relating to the Share Savers Plan, the following clauses 
are to be certified:] 

9. Open and maintain omnibus sub-accounts only when permitted by CDP. 

10. For omnibus sub-accounts permitted by CDP that relate to share saver plans, maintain 
segregated account book-keeping of securities, belonging to the beneficial owners, that are 
reconciled on a daily basis; and ensure that contract notes and monthly statements of their 
securities holdings are sent to beneficial owners, by the next market day after the trade is 
executed and first week of the next month respectively. 

                                                        
1  

The name of the entity should follow the name as registered with ACRA. 
2  

Insert the type of entity, e.g. ‘Nominee Company’, ‘Company’, ‘Bank’, etc. 
3  

The understanding of the relevant applicable requirements should be confirmed with the entity for each reporting period. For 
example, for the financial period ended 31 December 2015, the following description would have been appropriate: “Clauses 
6.1 and 6.4 of the CDP Depository Rules, Clause 5 of the DA Agreement and DA Circulars – DA/830/2004 and 

DA/GM/4/2011”. 
4  

The listing of the obligations should be based on the relevant applicable requirements for the reporting period. The listing 
suggested above is based on the requirements applicable for the period ended 31 December 2015. 

5  
This is only applicable to bank nominees and merchant bank nominees. 
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Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the ________

2
 in accordance with the 

Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for 
Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Financial Reporting Standards 
in Singapore, and for devising and maintaining such internal controls, including a system of internal 
accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against 
loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are 
recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain 
accountability of assets.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the ________

2
’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
________

2
 or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the ________

2
’s financial reporting process. 

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the ________

2
’s internal control.

6
 In this connection, we have 

reviewed the accounting system and system of internal control in operation in the ________
2
 

and reliance has been placed on internal controls, where appropriate. Because of the inherent 
limitations in any accounting and internal control system, errors and irregularities may 
nevertheless occur and not be detected. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

                                                        
6
  This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has a responsibility to issue an 

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.  
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ________

2
’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the ________

2
 to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 [Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.]

7
  

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  
 
[We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.]

 8
 

 
Restriction on Distribution and Use 
 
This report is prepared to assist the ________

2
 to meet the requirements of the CDP. As a result, the 

report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the ________
2
 and 

CDP and should not be distributed to or used by parties other than the ________
2
 or the CDP.  

 
[The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s supplementary report is 
[name]].

9
 

 
 
 
 __________________________ (Firm) 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore  

 _________________________ (Date) 
 
 

 
 
   
 

                                                        
7
  This paragraph is included if the audit is a group audit of  an entity with subsidiaries. Other relevant parts of the auditor’s 

report should be amended accordingly to reflect a group audit. 
8
  This paragraph is included if the entity is a listed entity.  

9
  The name of the engagement partner is included if the entity is a listed entity.  


